FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/6/2022 10:49 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

(Court of Appeals No. 54110-6-II)		
No. <u>10</u>	0544-0	
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON		
STATE OI	F WASHINGTON,	
	Petitioner,	
	v.	
NGA	NGOEUNG,	
	Respondent.	
PETITION FOR REVIEW		

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 31762/OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

I. INTRODUCTION

At the Defendant Ngoeung's most recent resentencing, the court imposed the smallest sentence it could: concurrent sentences of 25 years to life on two counts of aggravated murder. The Defendant had already served 25 years confinement. Thus, he was immediately parolable, subject only to decision of the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board. The Defendant does not challenge these terms, and they are the only sentencing elements which affect the length of Ngoeung's confinement.

The court of appeals' opinion has remanded for a fourth sentencing hearing directing, contrary to *Jones v. Mississippi*, that the trial court is required to make an on-the-record assessment of every fact of possible mitigating value within the record. *Delbosque*, a case which reversed an unconstitutional *de facto* life sentence after determining that the court's finding (that the juvenile offender was beyond hope) was unsupported in the record, does not support this result. The opinion also requires

the trial court to justify a standard range sentence, a requirement that is contrary to well-established law.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Unpublished Opinion, filed December 7, 2021. A copy of the decision is appended to this petition.

III. ISSUES

- A. Whether requiring a sentencing court to make an on-therecord assessment of every mitigating fact is in direct conflict with *Jones v. Mississippi* and unjustifiable under *Delbosque* where the Defendant has not assigned error to any finding of fact and where the Defendant was immediately parolable on the new sentence?
- B. Whether requiring the trial court to justify a standard range sentence is contrary to *Ammons* which holds that as a matter of law there can be no abuse of discretion in a standard range sentence?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1995, a jury convicted the Defendant Nga Ngoeung of two counts of aggravated first-degree murder, two counts of first-degree assault, and taking a motor vehicle. CP 10-11, 51-52,

482-83. The court imposed a mandatory sentence of life without parole. CP 12, 16.

Because Ngoeung had been 17 years old at the time of his offenses, he was resentenced in 2015 under the *Miller*-fix statute. CP 10, 51-53; RCW 10.95.030(3)(a)(ii); RCW 10.95.035.

In 2019, the trial court sentenced him a third time, following the issuance of *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018) and *State v. Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d 169, 438 P.3d 133 (2019). CP 482-91, 514-19; RP (9/6/19). The court imposed a minimum term of 25 years to life on each of the aggravated murders, to be served concurrently. CP 485. Having already served in excess of 25 years, the Defendant was immediately parolable on all counts, his release subject only to the decision of the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board (Board). RCW 9.94A.730 (1),(3); RCW 10.95.030(3)(f).

The parties understood that written findings may be required under RCW 9.94A.535 to support "an exceptional sentence of running counts one and two concurrently." CP 519.

Ngoeung drafted the findings and conclusions for Judge Rumbaugh's signature. CP 514-19.

Despite drafting the findings and conclusions, Ngoeung appealed the sentence. CP 492-505.

While the appeal was pending, the Board conducted a hearing to consider Ngoeung's release on all counts. Board Decision¹ at 1 (citing RCW 9.94A.730 and RCW 10.95.030). The only factor for the Board's consideration was whether Ngoeung was "more likely than not to commit a new crime if released with conditions that are designed to help better prepare him for a successful re-entry into society." *Id.* at 2. After a review of Ngoeung's many recent and serious infractions, the Board added 36 months to the sentence, recommended the Defendant engage in available programs, and indicated that "Mr. Ngoeung may request to be seen [for a release hearing] earlier." *Id.*

¹ The Board's decision was made a part of this appellate record on February 23, 2021.

In the contemporaneous appeal, Ngoeung challenged the judge's refusal to recuse himself and the symbolic, consecutive nature of his lesser assault counts. Op. at 1. The court of appeals' decision² remands for yet a fourth sentencing proceeding. It holds that, notwithstanding the imposition of a credit-for-time-served sentence, a judge imposes a constitutionally infirm sentence unless it makes an on-the-record consideration of "all favorable evidence of rehabilitation" and explains how each piece of evidence does or does not relate to the defendant's "potential for rehabilitation." Op. at 2, 20. It also holds that the trial court was required to explain why it imposed a standard range sentence on the lesser assault counts. Op. at 20-22.

_

² Initially, the court of appeals failed to address the first issue, under the mistaken belief that the transcripts from the 2015 resentencing had not been provided. The opinion was withdrawn when the State reminded the court that it had granted the State's motion to transfer the 2015 record prior to the State filing the Brief of Respondent.

V. ARGUMENT

A. A Court Which Imposes a Sentence for Which the Juvenile Offender is Immediately Parolable Cannot Be Said to Have Failed to Meaningfully Consider Youth.

This case presents a significant constitutional question.

RAP 13.4(b)(3). Although the sentencing court imposed a sentence upon which the offender was immediately parolable, the court of appeals held that the sentencer's consideration of youth was not sufficiently meaningful. As a matter of law, that cannot be the case.

While the Defendant and court of appeals focus on the consecutive nature of the assault sentences, these terms do not impact either Ngoeung's potential minimum or maximum sentence. The minimum term which the Defendant may have served was 25 years, and the maximum term is life. CP 485; RCW 9.94A.730(1); RCW 10.95.030(3)(a)(ii).

Regardless of whether individual facts may have reduced Ngoeung's culpability, there was no functionally lesser sentence that the court could have imposed. The only factor relevant to

the Defendant's release now is whether the Board finds by a preponderance that Ngoeung is more likely than not going to reoffend. No resentencing will change this. No resentencing will obtain his earlier release.

This Court should accept review and hold that, as a matter of law, a sentencing court does not fail to meaningfully consider youth when it imposes an effective credit-for-time-served sentence, where release is subject only to the authority of the Board.

B. The Opinion Is in Direct Conflict with Jones v. Mississippi.

The court of appeals' decision is in direct conflict with *Jones v. Mississippi*, -- U.S. --, 141 S. Ct. 1307, 209 L. Ed. 2d 390 (2021), in requiring the sentencing court to address on the record every alleged mitigating factor available in the record. Op. at 20. The Washington Supreme Court has held that the Eighth Amendment requires a sentencing court to consider a juvenile offender's youth. *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 21 n.6, 391 P.3d 409 (2017) (declining to consider the claim

under WASH. CONST. art. 1, §14). The Eighth Amendment does not, however, require a court to "provide an on-the-record sentencing explanation" even when imposing a life sentence. *Jones*, 141 S. Ct. at 1319.

The court of appeals held that the sentencer is required to address on the record every alleged mitigating fact raised by the defendant and announce whether it finds the fact to be true and whether the fact reduced the defendant's culpability. Op. at 20. The opinion is in direct conflict³ with *Jones*. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

_

³ It also conflicts with its own recent opinion in *State v. Fletcher*, No. 54502-1-II, 2021 WL 5897157, at *4 (Wn. Ct. App. filed Dec. 14, 2021) (unpublished opinion cited under GR 14.1 as persuasive authority only). There the court observed that "[n]owhere in the statute does the legislature require the sentencing court to issue findings about factors it considered but which did not ultimately influence its decision." *Id.* It would be "absurd" and "impractical, if not impossible" to "require sentencing courts to issue findings for every factor that could possibly be considered in sentencing, even factors that did not ultimately affect the decision." *Id.* "Findings are not meant to be an exhaustive summary of all the facts affecting any factor implicated in the case." *Id.*

In *Jones*, the Supreme Court stressed that although the Eighth Amendment requires that a sentencer consider youth and have the discretion to impose a different punishment, the Court has "unequivocally" and "squarely" rejected any suggestion that the Eighth Amendment imposes a formal factfinding requirement. *Jones*, 141 S. Ct. *Id.* at 1313-16 (citing *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190, 211, 136 S. Ct. 718, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016)). If the sentencers are not required even to find facts, they cannot be required to make an on-the-record assessment of how those unfound facts weigh on culpability.

C. *Delbosque* Neither Requires nor Supports the Court of Appeals' Decision.

The court of appeals' decision claims that this Court's opinion in *Delbosque* requires the result reached here. Op. at 16-20 (discussing *State v. Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d 106, 456 P.3d 806, 812 (2020)). It does not. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3). In that case, despite evidence that the defendant was on the road to rehabilitation, the sentencer found Delbosque to be hopeless and imposed an unconstitutional *de facto* life sentence. In sharp

contrast, the trial court *did not* find Ngoeung to be beyond hope and, in fact, reduced the sentence such that Ngoeung was immediately parolable. In *Delbosque*, the Court reversed the sentence because the written findings were unsupported in the record. In our own case, Ngoeung did not assign error to any finding and the court of appeals did not determine the written findings to be unsupported in the record.

1. *Delbosque* is distinguishable in that it involved an unconstitutional *de facto* life sentence.

Delbosque and Ngoeung received sentences at opposite ends of the spectrum. When Ngoeung was resentenced in 2019, he was immediately parolable, having already served 25 years. Delbosque's sentencer, however, intended to impose a *de facto* life sentence. *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 113-14. In the time between the imposition of the sentence and its review, this would become a *per se* unlawful sentence. *Id.* at 112 (sentenced in 2016); *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018) (holding that WASH. CONST. art. 1, § 14 categorically prohibits life sentences for juvenile offenders).

Delbosque's sentencer relied upon federal jurisprudence which states that a life sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender is not unlike a death sentence, because it alters the offender's life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable and because a juvenile offender will on average serve more years and a greater percentage of his life in prison than an adult offender. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 69-70, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010). Therefore, a life sentence is only appropriate for a juvenile offender who is beyond hope. Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 479-80, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2469, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) (quoting Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 573, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005)) (it is the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption); Miller, 567 U.S. at 472-73 (quoting Simmons, 560 U.S., at 72-73) (deciding that a juvenile offender forever will be a danger to society would require making a judgment that they are incorrigible, a characteristic that is inconsistent with youth); *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 471 (quoting Simmons, 543 U.S. at 570) (because a child's character is not as

well formed and their traits not as fixed as an adult's, their actions are less likely to be "evidence of irretrievable depravity").

In support of the life sentence, Delbosque's sentencer determined him to be "irreparably corrupt, permanently incorrigible, and irretrievably depraved." *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 118. The judge found this was "one of those rare cases where a life without the possibility of parole sentence would be appropriate, except for the potential reduction of risk caused by advancing old age." *Id.* at 114. This sentence damned Delbosque to a life behind bars until he was dead or sufficiently feeble to be harmless.

The sentencer's finding was primarily based upon Delbosque's offense. *Id.* at 117-18. But recent jurisprudence in juvenile offender sentencing requires courts to focus on mitigating factors. *State v. Haag*, 198 Wn.2d 309, 314, 495 P.3d 241, 243 (2021). Just as a single act that occurred in one's adolescence does not define a person for the rest of their life, nor

should it result in a life behind bars. Delbosque's prison history demonstrated that he was capable of rehabilitation. *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 118. In other words, there was hope.

Delbosque stands for the proposition that before a court throws away the key on a juvenile offender's life, it must satisfy this Court that this human being is beyond hope. In Washington, we recognize that no juvenile offender is beyond hope. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67. Delbosque does not speak to our own case where the sentencer did not find Ngoeung to be beyond hope, rendering a veritable credit-for-time-served sentence, the least penalty the judge could impose.

2. Unlike Delbosque, Ngoeung has not challenged any written finding.

Delbosque's sentence was reversed, because the written findings were not supported by substantial evidence. *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 120. But Ngoeung did not assign error to any of the written findings which he drafted and the court adopted. Opening Br. at 3. And the court of appeals did not determine that

any of the court's written findings were unsupported in the record. The opinion readily acknowledges this. Op. at 18 n. 12.

The court of appeals' opinion claims its decision is dictated by *Delbosque*. Op. at 2 n.3, 16-18. But *Delbosque* did not require the lower court to make an on-the-record assessment of every fact available at sentencing that arguably supports a mitigated sentence. Op. at 20. And even if it had, *Jones* would have superseded it.

Accordingly there is no basis under *Delbosque* to reverse Ngoeung's sentence. Insofar as the opinion claims it is authorized by *Delbosque*, it is in conflict with *Delbosque*. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

D. The Sentencer Was Not Required to Explain Standard Range Sentences on Lesser Counts Which Had No Impact on the Release Date.

The court of appeals' opinion requires the trial court to explain why it imposed a standard range sentence on counts three and four, sentences which have no impact on the period of

incarceration. Op. at 20-22. This is contrary to established law and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

1. A sentencing court is only required to justify exceptional sentences, not standard sentences.

When sentencing juvenile offenders, a court has complete discretion. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 21. This means that a court "may" impose the sentences on serious violent offenses concurrently. *Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d 169. But when it does so, this is an exceptional sentence. *Id.* And if the court imposes an exceptional sentence, it must enter findings and conclusions. RCW 9.94A.535.

When an offender is sentenced on more than one "serious violent" offense on the same day, the standard, presumptive sentence is consecutive sentences in which all but one serious violent offense is determined using an offender score of zero. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b). Counts three and four are serious violent offenses. CP 482; RCW 9.94A.030(46)(a)(v).

Here the court entered written findings related to its decision to run counts one and two concurrently. CP 514-19.

Murder is a serious violent offense. RCW 9.94A.030(46)(a)(i). Therefore it is possible that a higher court might require that aggravated murders should presumptively run consecutively under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b). However, it is also likely that the consecutive sentence statute would not apply because aggravated murder is addressed under an entirely different title and chapter. Chapter 10.95 RCW. These findings, therefore, were entered in an abundance of caution to demonstrate that concurrent murder sentences would be justified under the exceptional sentence statute.

The court did <u>not</u> enter any findings regarding its decision to impose consecutive sentences on counts three and four. It did not because this was not an exceptional sentence, and only exceptional sentences require findings. *State v. Davis*, 47 Wn. App. 91, 96, 734 P.2d 500 (1987) (holding that a sentencing judge "need only enter findings in support of an exceptional sentence"). The court does not need to explain standard sentences because, as a general principle, standard range

sentences are unappealable. RCW 9.94A.585(1). "When the sentence given is within the presumptive sentence range then as a matter of law there can be no abuse of discretion and there is no right to appeal that aspect." *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 183, 718 P.2d 796 (1986). *See also State v. Williams*, 149 Wn.2d 143, 147, 65 P.3d 1214, 1215 (2003).

Insofar as the court of appeals requires an explanation for the consecutive sentence on counts three and four (Op. at 22), it is challenging a presumptive, standard aspect. Accordingly, its decision is in direct conflict with well-established controlling authority to the contrary. And this Court must accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. Even if concurrent sentences were imposed on all counts, it would not affect Ngoeung's release date.

Insofar as the court of appeals' finds the sentences on counts three and four to be "inconsistent" with the sentences on counts one and two, they are not. The sentences on counts three and four do not actually affect the length of Ngoeung's

incarceration. Whether concurrent or consecutive, they do not result in a different release date or different release standard. The Defendant was releasable on those counts long before his second resentencing. And he was releasable on those counts *regardless* of the term the court imposed in resentencing, because he had already served in excess of 20 years. RCW 9.94A.730(1). Once the Board releases Ngoeung on the aggravated murders, it will have met the standard for release on the assaults, and vice versa. The standards are identical. RCW 9.94A.730(3); RCW 10.95.030(3)(f).

The State proposed consecutive sentences on counts three and four with an understanding that this would be purely symbolic. CP 323, 327, 329-31. Ngoeung had four victims, four boys his own age. Over the decades, their four families have endured repeated hearings for each of the three co-defendants. These interminable resentencings, parole board hearings, and,

most recently, a pardon hearing⁴ have been excruciating for traumatized family members of the victims and surviving victims.⁵ The consecutive terms were intended to be some

John Forrest has protected his family from the hearings, usually appearing in court alone. RP (1/23/15) at 50; RP (9/6/19) at 55 ("I can't bring [my wife] here"). "[E]very time this comes up, I have to go sit in front of a panel of eight people who were appointed by I don't know who looking at me like, 'What's your problem?" RP (9/6/19) at 56. "[A]ll we are asking is to let us get on with our lives, because it's already hard enough for us to live every day that our child is not with us." RP (1/23/15) at 51.

The victim statements at Insyxiengmay's pardon hearing begin at 1:53:00. https://tvw.org/video/washington-state-clemency-pardons-board-2021091072/ John Forrest said that it would take his wife months to recover after every hearing. Following Ngoeung's 2019 resentencing, his family closed up two businesses and left the state—because these incessant rehearings have caused them to lose faith in Washington's justice system. "We go through this every two or three years," and he expects to have "do this again" when Ngoeung is released and wants to avoid deportation. His daughter Kathleen Forrest agreed. "We don't lay in bed at night wanting to inflict harm on

⁴ Co-defendant Oloth Insyxiengmay told Ngoeung's sentencer that, unlike Ngoeung, he was not removable. CP 120. Subsequent to that attestation, he requested a pardon on the basis that Laos could conceivably enter into a repatriation agreement in his lifetime. https://tvw.org/video/washington-state-clemency-pardons-board-2021091072/

⁵ Both Michael Welden's mother and Robert Forrest's mother are barely surviving the loss of their sons. CP 549; RP (1/23/15) at 50; RP (9/6/19) at 55.

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