FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/4/2022 4:25 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1005440

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

Nga Ngoeung,

Respondent.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR THE COUNTY OF PIERCE

## **ANSWER**

KATE L. BENWARD Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 katebenward@washapp.org

#

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

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's case law in *Delbosque* and *Gilbert*; there is no conflict with State or federal law.

The State's petition for review reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the purpose and requirements of a *Miller*-hearing, especially in light of recent clarification provided by *Delbosque*<sup>1</sup> and *Gilbert*.<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's case law in requiring the sentencing court consider the *Miller* factors, thoroughly explain its reasoning and reconcile the mitigating evidence. Neither federal nor state case law regarding the sentencing of adult offenders requires a different result.

The purpose of the *Miller*-fix statute "is to correct unconstitutional mandatory life without parole sentences in accordance with *Miller*." *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 127. At a *Miller* sentencing hearing, "the court must take into account

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 195 Wn.2d 106, 456 P.3d 806 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 193 Wn.2d 169, 438 P.3d 133 (2019).

mitigating factors that account for the diminished culpability of youth as provided in *Miller*." RCW 10.95.030(3)(b).

In Washington, when sentencing children for adult crimes, the sentencing court must consider the mitigating differences between children and adults in *all* cases. *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 21, 391 P.3d 409 (2017). Any provision in the Sentencing Reform Act limiting this discretion, including the mandatory provision of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b), does not control, because courts have absolute "discretion to consider downward sentences for juvenile offenders regardless of any sentencing provision to the contrary." *Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d at 175.

The sentencing court must consider the *Miller* factors and impose a new minimum term consistent with them. *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 128-29. The guiding principle is that the harshest adult-like sentences are reserved for only a few individuals, *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479— "the rare juvenile offender who exhibits such irretrievable depravity that rehabilitation is

impossible." Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190, 136 S. Ct. 718, 733, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016) (Emphasis added). In applying the *Miller* factors, courts "must *meaningfully* consider how juveniles are different from adults, and how those differences apply to the facts of the case." *Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 121.

The central inquiry turns on the "relevant mitigation evidence bearing on the circumstances of the offense and the culpability of the offender, including both expert and lay testimony as appropriate." *Id.* The court must "thoroughly explain its reasoning" in determining whether to impose an exceptional sentence. *Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d at 176.

The sentencing court in Nga's case noted, "after reading State vs. Gilbert and State v. Houston-Sconiers," it had complete discretion, or an "open field to run on" in sentencing Nga. RP 10. No statute required the court to impose the assault convictions consecutive to the aggravated murder convictions. However, the trial court separately considered the consecutive

sentencing provisions of the SRA and ordered a consecutive, standard range sentence for the assaults, despite entering findings that Nga's reduced culpability justified a minimum term for the related murders. *Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d at 176. The sentencing court made no written findings that justified anything but the mitigated sentence it imposed for the aggravated murders.

The Court of Appeals correctly found the sentencing court failed to consider each of the *Miller* factors, reconcile the mitigating evidence and thoroughly explain its reasoning on the record. Op. at 15-18. The Court of Appeals also correctly determined this Court's requirements for the sentencing of juvenile offenders applies "regardless of whether the child is being sentenced under RCW 10.95.035 or title 9.94A RCW."

Op at 15. The sentencing court's failure to incorporate its consideration of the standard sentencing range for the assaults in imposing its sentence under RCW 10.95.030 ignored *Gilbert's* command that the court consider this standard range

sentence when determining whether to impose an exceptional sentence, "taking care to thoroughly explain its reasoning." 193 Wn.2d at 176.

Contrary to this Court's case law governing the sentencing of juveniles, the State claims that case law governing standard-range sentencing for adults applies. Pet. for Rev. at 16-17. This is wrong. The Court of Appeals correctly required the sentencing court to comply with this Court's requirements for the sentencing of juvenile offenders.

The State also claims that the Court of Appeals decision "conflicts" with the Supreme Court's decision in *Jones v*.

Mississippi, 141 S. Ct. 1307, 1321, 209 L. Ed. 2d 390 (2021).

Pet for Rev. at 8. Jones held the "Court's precedents do not require an on-the-record sentencing explanation with an implicit finding of permanent incorrigibility." *Id.* at 1321. The State does not explain how this controls Washington's case law interpreting the requirements for sentencing a juvenile under RCW 10.95.030 at issue here. The Court of Appeals correctly

applied this Court's case law and the State's claims do not meet the criteria for review by this Court. And because the sentencing court ordered a consecutive sentence for the aggravated murder offenses and the assaults, where no statute required it, this was an aggravated, not a mitigated sentence, which required findings to support it. *See Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d at 176. This court should deny review.

2. Even if the State's claims about Nga's parole eligibility were correct, which they are not, there is no need for review by this Court. On remand, the State can agree to amend the judgment and sentence to reflect the sentence it claims the court intended to impose.

The State insisted on appeal and continues to claim in its petition to this Court, that the court's 41-year minimum sentence was "symbolic" because Nga is parole eligible after 25 years. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the State's specious contention on both the law and the facts.

First, the State's claim is factually inaccurate. As cited in the Court of Appeals' opinion, the sentencing court explicitly sentenced Nga to serve 41.25 years before he will become parole eligible:

[T]wo 25 year to life terms of imprisonment that will be served concurrently. And then they will be followed consecutively on Counts III and IV by 102 months on Count III and 93 months on Count IV. By my rough calculation, that comes to 195 months that will be consecutive to the 25 years to life sentence for the murders. After all of that time is done, then the ISRB will be able to make its determinations.

Op. at 8 (citing 9/6/19 RP 94-97).

Because the court did not comply with *Gilbert's* direction to include any considerations about the standard range for the total sentence imposed under 10.95.035, *Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d at 176, these sentences will be served separately. This means that Nga will not be parole eligible after 25 years as the State claims. To the contrary, by sentencing Nga to consecutive terms under RCW 10.95.030 and title 9.94A RCW, Nga is ineligible to even begin serving the consecutive term until he is released on the 25-life sentence imposed under RCW 10.95.030. This means that Nga potentially faces a *greater* sentence than 41.25

years if the ISRB does not release him on the 25-life sentence. Because Nga has not served 20 years for the assault convictions, which run consecutive to the court's sentence imposed under RCW 10.95.030, he is not eligible for parole under RCW 9.94A.730(3) as the State claims he is. The Supreme Court emphasized that after *Miller*, "our legislature plainly intended to provide a meaningful opportunity for early release." *Matter of Brooks*, 197 Wn.2d 94, 102, 480 P.3d 399 (2021). The trial court's consecutive sentence here directly contradicts this intent.

Regardless, the Court of Appeals correctly cited to this Court's case law establishing that the question of parole eligibility is separate from the constitutionality of the court's sentence: "the fact that a recently enacted statute may offer the possibility of another remedy in the future, or on collateral review, does not resolve whether petitioners' sentences are unconstitutional and in need of correction now." Op. at 22 (citing *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 22–23).

Nga made clear throughout his appeal that if the sentencing court's consecutive terms were "purely symbolic," this symbolism must be achieved in a way that will not imprison him beyond the minimum term the State claims the court intended to impose. Nga requested the minimum sentence the court could impose: 25 years to life. If the 41.25 year sentence is "symbolic" and not an actual term of confinement before he becomes parole eligible, his judgment and sentence must be changed to reflect this. The State could simply agree to this on remand since it believes this was the court's intention. This would also address the State's concern about the victims having to endure a fourth sentencing hearing. Pet for Rev. at 19-20.

Even if the State's claims were correct, the Court of Appeals' decision remanding for a new sentencing hearing allows the parties to ensure the court's judgment and sentence accurately reflects the sentence the State claims the court intended to impose. There is no need for review by this Court.

3. This Court should accept review to consider whether a sentencing court must account for a child's intellectual disability when assessing his capacity for rehabilitation.

Because the sentencing court did not meaningfully consider all of the *Miller* factors or explain its reasoning for imposing consecutive sentences under the SRA despite finding leniency was warranted, it is impossible to know why the court sentenced Nga to a term of 41.25 years to life, rather than the minimum sentence 25 years to life after finding his youth and personal characteristics warranted such a sentence. The sentencing court also failed to consider the fact of Nga's intellectual disability in light of all of the *Miller* factors. This Court should grant review to clarify the state and federal constitutions require consideration of a child's intellectual disability when assessing their capacity for change and rehabilitation.

The court's oral ruling reflected the court perceived Nga's DOC history showed a lack of rehabilitation. RP 8, 95-96; *see also* CP 496 FF 16. Insofar as these statements can be

construed as findings in respect to capacity for rehabilitation, they are not supported by substantial evidence and establish the court failed to meaningfully consider the mitigating evidence of Nga's cognitive limitations. *See Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d at 120.

Roper's and Miller's focus on a child's reduced culpability due to neurological underdevelopment in relation to adults is premised on the Court's recognition in Atkins that adults with intellectual and cognitive disabilities are less culpable, and thus less deserving of the harshest punishment.

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 570-71, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161

L. Ed.2d 1 (2005) (citing Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122

S. Ct. 2242, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2002)).

Atkins determined that in the context of adult sentencing, persons with "disabilities in areas of reasoning, judgment, and control of their impulses...do not act with the same level of moral culpability that characterizes the most serious adult criminal conduct." 536 U.S. at 306.

Mental retardation as considered by *Atkins* applied to people with IQs in the 70 range. *Id.* at 318. IQ scores between 70 and 85 indicate a "'borderline intellectual functioning category,' which empirical research has shown significantly impacts an individual's ability to control impulses, develop analytical capabilities, problem-solve, and exercise higher-level reasoning skills." Adam Lamparello, *IQ*, *Culpability*, and the *Criminal Law's "Gray Area": Why the Rationale for Reducing the Culpability of Juveniles and Intellectually-Disabled Adults Should Apply to Low-IQ Adults*, 65 Loy. L. Rev. 305, 323 (2019).

Indeed, the reasons underlying the link between low IQ and crime are strikingly similar to those pertaining to juvenile delinquency: "low-IQ adults struggle with impulse control and the ability to appreciate the consequences of their actions." *Id.* at 314. This is why *Roper* borrowed so heavily from intellectual disability cases. Low-IQ adults, like juveniles and intellectually-disabled adults, suffer from impairments that

affect their ability to conform to the requirements of law or form a culpable mental state. *Id.* at 315.

Researchers have made the following observations of persons with intellectual disability as they progress through the criminal justice system: "In court, they confessed more readily, provided incriminating evidence, were less likely to pleabargain, were more likely to have been convicted, and received longer sentences." Astrid Birgden, *Enabling the Disabled: A Proposed Framework to Reduce Discrimination Against Forensic Disability Clients Requiring Access to Programs in Prison*, 42 Mitchell Hamline L. Rev. 637, 646 (2016).

This is certainly true in Nga's case, where his codefendant, the actual shooter, received a lesser sentence, and was released on parole after 22 years. The other co-defendant also took an advantageous plea deal. CP 493-94 FF 5. Nga confessed immediately and received the harshest sentence, despite having shot no one.

Nga pointed to the paradox of focusing on prison rehabilitation for people with reduced cognitive ability: "the reason why Nga struggled and struggles in DOC today is what makes him less culpable for the criminal activity as a juvenile." RP 74. Lower intellectual functioning inhibits rehabilitation in prison. Birgden, *supra*, at 646. Studies show that people with intellectual limits in prison "were more likely to have been abused or victimized and engaged in poorer institutional behavior. Therefore, they became over-classified with a higher security level." *Id.* Birgden observed programs in prison are not "generally accessible to offenders with an IQ lower than eighty points." *Id.* at 676.

And though prison certainly creates distress for most people, prisoners with cognitive disabilities "have been found, on psychometric measures, to suffer three times the depression and anxiety levels as general population prisoners." *Id.* at 687.

Nga's experience in prison reflects the experiences of those with lower intellectual functioning. In prison he suffers

from "anxiety" and "recurrent major depression." CP 496 FF 15. His prison infractions are not predatory, but show his need for group protection and are driven by vulnerabilities of youth, relative immaturity and "poor cognition." CP 255. Nga was unable to complete his general education requirements (GED) and he worked for only three months of his sentence. CP 61.

A person's intellectual disability must be accounted for in light of *Miller*'s consideration of "any factors suggesting that the child might be successfully rehabilitated." *Gilbert*, 193
Wn.2d at 176 (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477). A trial court's failure to account for intellectual disability would untether *Miller* from its moorings, since *Miller's* requirement that the sentencing judge consider the child's personal characteristics derives from the Court's same requirement regarding reduced culpability for those with intellectual disabilities. *See Graham*, 560 U.S. at 61; *Roper*, 543 U.S. 551; *Atkins*, 536 U.S. 304.

When as here, there is evidence a defendant's cognitive disability diminishes his opportunity for rehabilitation in prison,

this must be factored into the court's assessment under *Miller*'s required consideration of any factors "suggesting the juvenile might be rehabilitated." *Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d at 176. This is an issue of substantial public interest and significant constitutional import. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4).

4. This Court should also accept review to determine whether the sentencing court misallocated the burden of proof to Nga at the *Miller* resentencing and erred by failing to incorporate its consideration of the standard range into the sentence imposed under RCW 10.95.030.

If this Court accepts review of the State's petition, Nga asks this Court to also accept review of his claim that the court erroneously placed the burden of proof on him at the *Miller* resentencing by failing to follow *Gilbert*'s requirement that any consideration of the standard range sentence be included in the sentence it orders under RCW 10.95.030.

RCW 9.94A.535(1) requires the defendant to prove mitigating circumstances justifying an exceptional sentence by a preponderance of the evidence. This SRA provision does not control the sentencing of a child under RCW 10.95.030: "This

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